# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SEAN MICHAEL MCKENDRICK,
Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 82532
Electronically Filed
Oct 21 2021 01:30 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

# Appeal From the Eighth Judicial District Court

The Honorable JACQUELINE BLUTH, District Judge

#### APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

TCM LAW GROUP THOMAS C. MICHAELIDES, ESQ NEVADA BAR NO. 5425 2620 REGATTA DRIVE #219 LAS VEGAS, NV 89128 PHONE:702-462-6161 FAX:702-413-6255

Page 1 | 15

# CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO NEV. R. APP. P. 26.1

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Denial of the Writ of Habeas Corpus based upon District Court's ruling that Counsel was not ineffective for choosing not investigate petitioner's mental health and any mitigation at sentencing or object to the state filing its intent to seek habitual criminal treatment.

#### STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW

Generally, this Court reviews the constitutionality of a statute or ordinance *de novo. Flamingo Paradise gaming, LLC. V. Chanos*, 125 Nev. 502, 509, 2167 P.3d 546, 551 (2009).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 29, 2020, Petitioner filed a Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) in the Clark County District Court. The Writ was based on the following four elements:

- 1. Counsel failed to maintain adequate communication with Petitioner and to investigate or interview any witnesses.
- 2. Counsel failed to investigate Petitioner's mental health and any mitigation

at sentencing.

- 3. Counsel failed to object to the state filing its intent to seek habitual criminal treatment; and
- 4. Counsel failed to file a motion to withdraw plea or file a direct appeal.

# THE DISTRICT COURT'S SUMMARY AND WRITTEN ORDER

The Fifth Eighth Court of the State of Nevada, in and for Clark County issued a written Order after hearing arguments on the Habeas Petitioner's Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post Conviction) on January 18, 2021. The Court issued a written opinion denying the Writ; stating as follows.

Claims regarding counsel's communication and investigation are outside the scope of a habeas petition where the petitioner pleaded guilty because they do not claim that the plea was not knowingly and voluntarily entered or that counsel's advice to plea was bad.

The Court then pointed out in its written findings that the Petitioner's claim that he only plead guilty because of counsel's ineffectiveness was belied by the record.

The Court also noted in their findings that Petitioner failed to show support from the record that he attempted or wanted to withdraw his guilty plea when the State filed the intent to seek habitual treatment.

The District Court's ruling failed to consider the argument that this client

was not a habitual offender, and this could have greatly affected the sentencing phase after his plea. Petitioner's entire basis for his writ is ineffective assistance of counsel and this habitual offender argument was never made by his counsel.

Counsel owed a duty to Petitioner to not only explain the consequences of the habitual offender status, but to argue against it to reduce sentencing.

#### LEGAL ARGUMENT

The benchmark case for ineffective assistance of counsel *is Strickland v.*Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.CT. 2052, 80 L.ED.2d 674 (1984). In

Strickland, the Supreme Court of the United States held that to warrant reversal, a lawyer's conduct must have fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.

The Supreme Court acknowledged the existence of a wide range of reasonable assistance and that all courts should take every effort to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight.

In order to win a claim for ineffective assistance of counsel, the individual must prove two things: The attorney's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and the attorney's performance gives rise to a reasonable probability that if counsel had performed adequately, the result would have been different. *Id.*; *United States v. Cronic*, 466 U.S. 648 (1984). Courts begin by presuming that a defense attorney acted competently, so the burden is on the individual to prove that the attorney's actions were subpar. *Id.* In general, a Nevada court will consider that a

defense attorney was competent if his/her actions were reasonable and within professional standards. *Freese v. State*, 13 P.3d 442 (2000).

The second prong to prevailing on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim is showing that there is a reasonable probability that the court proceedings would have ended differently *but for* the defense attorney's deficient performance. In other words, the attorney's incompetence caused "actual prejudice." *Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)*.

The Supreme Court of Nevada discussed *Strickland* in *Sanborn v. State* in *Sanborn v. State*, 107 Nev. 399, 812 P.2d 1279 (Nev., 1991). In *Sanborn*, the Nevada Supreme Court held that a moving party must demonstrate that his or her lawyer's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and that counsel's deficiencies were so severe that they rendered the jury's verdict unreliable.

In Sanborn, the defendant's conviction was reversed. Evidence considered on appeal was that Sanborn's counsel did not adequately perform pretrial investigation, failed to pursue evidence supportive of a claim of self-defense, and failed to explore allegations of the victim's propensity towards violence. The Supreme Court of Nevada held that Sanborn's lawyer "was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment" the test discussed in Sanborn was that had counsel been effective, "the outcome may very well have

been different." Although Sanborn involved a jury trial, Strickland involved a guilty plea.

In the present case, the record is clear that Sean's attorney threw in the proverbial towel and did not argue against habitual offender status. As such, the instant case qualifies for relief under *Sanborn* and *Strickland*.

On the same day that *Strickland* was published by the Supreme Court of the United States, the Supreme Court also established an exception to the deficient and prejudicial performance standard by holding that certain circumstances in a criminal trial are so likely to prejudice and accused that no actual showing of prejudice need be made; ineffective assistance in **presumed**. *United States v. Chronic*, 466 U.S. 648 (1984).

In *Chronic*, the Supreme Court identified two circumstances as being presumably prejudicial; one of these situations is counsel "entirely failing to subject the prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial testing." In the present case, Attorney Gibson entirely failed to subject the prosecution's assertion that Duane had used drugs, despite the fact that such an admission exposed Duane to decades of incarceration.

Prejudice can be presumed only "where there has been an actual breakdown in the adversarial process at trial." *Toomey v Bunnell*, 898 F.2d 741, 744 n. 2 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir.), cert. denied, 111 S.Ct. 390 (1990); *Jung v U.S.*, 988 F.2d 120 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir.,

20 21

23

24

22

25

27

26

28

1993). In Toomey, the defendant alleged his counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge a warrantless search of the car, which was lawful in California. In the present case Duane's Counsel simply left unchallenged suspect drug test.

Sean anticipates that the State will allege that no actual prejudice was suffered, and that the Judge would not have allowed him to withdraw the plea. The State will also likely argue that the attorney made a strategy decision to accept responsibility and try for mercy. Both these arguments fail. First, in Cronic, prejudice is presumed when an attorney fails to engage in adversarial activity. The Attorney did not have to choose between asking for mercy and challenging the habitual offender status; both options were available. Even if the Attorney made a "strategic decision," the decision was so poor as to raise the presumption of ineffective counsel set forth in Cronic, supra.

In Bell v Cone, 535 U.S. 685, 152 L ED 2d 914 (2002) the Supreme Court of the United States discussed Strickland and Cronic. In Bell, the defendant was sentenced to death for the murder of an elderly couple. The defendant in Bell sought habeas relief which was declined; however, the dictum in Bell is relevant here.

Cronic holds that relief from ineffective assistance of counsel is appropriate in three circumstances, the first being absence of counsel, another being when counsel is called to render assistance that he or she is unable to provide. The

relevant prong in Cronic is "counsel entirely fails to subject the prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial testing." In the present case, Sean's Counsel failed to challenge the State's allegations of habitual offender. Habeas relief was denied in Bell because the defendant alleged there was no meaningful objection to the prosecution's recitation of the gruesome facts of the murder; however, there was some objections made, just not enough to merit the defendant's satisfaction. Cronic requires a complete failure to test the prosecution's case trigger a presumption of ineffective assistance of counsel which is what happened in the instant case.

This case centers on whether or not the decision by then counsel for Petition to forgo putting on an evidentiary hearing on at Petitioner's sentencing and choosing rather to pursue an option of admitting the habitual offender status post plea and asking the Court to ignore the relevant, biding portions of the plea agreement was a reasonable strategic decision or ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland and its progeny.

Counsel appears to have been under the belief that he was required to choose between putting on evidence to dispute the validity of the status or arguing for mercy form the judge at sentencing. However, it is respectfully maintained that the two strategies were not mutually exclusive. Everything that counsel argued at sentencing could have been argued after putting on evidence to try and

throw some doubt on the validity of the habitual offender status. Obviously, Sean's habitual offender status was contested and in need of testimony and an adversarial hearing.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Based on the forgoing, Appellant respectfully request that this honorable

Court either overturn the District Court's decision and grant the Petition for Writ of

Habeas Corpus or remand it back for further proceedings.