IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SEAN MICHAEL MCKENDRICK,
Appellant,

Electronically Filed Nov 18 2021 09:15 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 82532

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Post-Conviction Petition of Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

THOMAS C. MICHAELIDES, ESQ. Nevada Bar #005425 TCM Law Group 2620 Regatta Drive #219 Las Vegas, Nevada 89128 (702) 462-6161 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

1. Whether the district court correctly denied McKendrick's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 20, 2019, the State charged Sean McKendrick, by way of Indictment with the following: Count I - Battery by Prisoner (Category B Felony NRS 200.481(2)(F)); Count 2 - Battery by Prisoner (Category B Felony – NRS 200.481(2)(F)); Count 3 - Attempt Murder (Category B Felony - NRS 200.010,

200.030, 193.330); and Count 4 - Attempt Battery with Substantial Bodily Harm (Category D Felony/Gross Misdemeanor - NRS 200.481, 193.330). Record on Appeal(C338224) ("ROA"), at 1-3.

On March 27, 2019, pursuant to negotiations with the State, McKendrick pled guilty to one count of Battery by Prisoner. ROA(C338224), at 39. McKendrick signed a Guilty Plea Agreement, which was filed the same day in open court. Id.

On June 10, 2019, the district court filed a Bench Warrant after McKendrick failed to appear at his sentencing. ROA(C338224), at 64. On June 14, 2019, the district court filed a Notice of Intent to Forfeit due to McKendrick's failure to appear in court. ROA(C338224), at 66. On June 20, 2019, the State filed a Notice of Intent to Seek Punishment as a Habitual Criminal. ROA(C338224), at 68.

On July 15, 2019, the district court sentenced McKendrick under the Habitual Criminal Statute NRS 207.010 to Life in the Nevada Department of Corrections (NDOC) with minimum parole eligibility after ten (10) years. ROA(C338224), at 72-73. McKendrick received fifty-nine (59) days credit for time served. <u>Id.</u> On July 23, 2019, the district court filed the Judgment of Conviction. <u>Id.</u>

On August 6, 2019, McKendrick filed a Motion for Additional Credit for Time Served. ROA(C338224), at 78. The district court granted the motion and on September 4, 2019, the district court filed the Amended Judgment of Conviction. ROA(C338224), at 90-91.

On August 15, 2019, McKendrick filed a Notice of Appeal. ROA(C338224), at 84. On September 28, 2020, the Court of Appeals of the State of Nevada affirmed the district court's sentence. ROA(C338224), at 131. On October 27, 2020, the Nevada Supreme Court issued remittitur. ROA(C338224), at 130.

On October 29, 2020, McKendrick filed a Post-Conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus ("Petition") and Motion for Appointment of Counsel ("Motion"). ROA(A823904), at 1. On January 18, 2021, the district court filed its order denying McKendrick's Petition. ROA(A823904), at 41.

On February 19, 2021, McKendrick filed a Notice of Appeal. ROA(A823904), at 48. On October 12, 2021, the Nevada Supreme Court appointed Thomas C. Michaelides, Esq. as appellate counsel and granted an extension of time to file the opening brief. On October 21, 2021, McKendrick filed his opening brief.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

McKendrick's Pre-Sentence Investigation Report ("PSI") filed April 23, 2019, provided a recitation of the facts of the subject offenses:

On January 29, 2019, the Alternative to Incarceration Office received a phone call from the brother and sister-in-law of the defendant, Sean McKendrick. They requested for an officer to conduct a random Urinalysis test to determine if the defendant was under the influence of a controlled substance as he was acting bizarre.

Officers arrived at the residence, and Mr. McKendrick opened the door, he was acting bizarre, and officers attempted to place him in handcuffs. Once the left

handcuff was placed, he started questioning and challenging officers' asking why was he going back to jail. He then physically resisted, pulling away from officers and throwing his body weight and right closed fist, striking the officer, Victim #1, on his chest and leg. He struck Victim #1 and #2 another officer several times with a closed fist and hitting Victim #1 in the abdomen and leg area. During the struggle, Victim #2 was thrown into a table, causing the table to break on his back. The victim called for backup, and the fight continued outside of the apartment on the balcony, where Victim #2 was rushed by the defendant attempting to push him over the railing of the 2nd floor. However, Victim #1 was able to prevent this from happening by placing the defendant in a restraint and giving verbal commands. The defendant continued to be physical with the victims ignoring the commands. A physical restraint rendered Mr. McKendrick unconscious and subdued for a short period of time, being placed in handcuffs. When the defendant woke up, he began yelling and attempting to fight officers. Mr. McKendrick showed signs of being under the influence and was transported to the hospital for further evaluation.

PSI, at 5-6.¹

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court properly denied McKendrick's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). The district court correctly dismissed McKendrick's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file a motion to withdraw a guilty plea, as McKendrick's claim was outside the scope of NRS 34.810(1)(a). The claim was also meritless because McKendrick freely agreed and was fully aware of

¹ The PSI is cited in ROA(C338224), at 53-63, but is filed separately under seal.

the term and condition that the State may argue for habitual treatment if McKendrick failed to appear for "any subsequent hearings" ROA(C338224), at 39.

McKendrick's newly raised claim that Counsel failed to object to the court's habitual treatment is belied by the record and bare and naked. *See* Opening Brief, at 10-12. At sentencing, Counsel argued in opposition to habitual treatment, albeit it unsuccessfully. *See* ROA(C338244), at 108-110, 123-124.

ARGUMENT

I. MCKENDRICK RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact, subject to independent review." Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 622, 28 P.2d 498, 508 (2001). "However, the district court's purely factual findings regarding [claims] of ineffective assistance of counsel are entitled to deference on subsequent review by this court." Lara v. State, 120 Nev. 177, 179, 87 P.3d 528, 530 (2004).

B. DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DENIED MCKENDRICK'S CLAIM AS IT WAS OUTSIDE THE SCOPE OF HABEAS REVIEW

McKendrick claimed below that Counsel was ineffective for failing to file a motion to withdraw his plea because the State gained the right to argue for habitual criminal treatment. ROA(A823904), at 13-14. Specifically, McKendrick claimed that "[C]ounsel was ineffective in failing to submit a Motion to withdraw Guilty

Plea" and that he was prejudiced by this because "by not trying to withdraw Petitioner's guilty plea, [Counsel] was allowing Petitioner to be sentenced to a much greater term of imprisonment, up to a sentence of life without Parole." <u>Id.</u> at 13-14.

However, McKendrick now changes his claim to the assertion that Counsel was ineffective for "failing to challenge the State's allegations of habitual offender." Opening Brief, at 6-7, 11.² McKendrick's new claim asserts that Counsel is ineffective because "Counsel failed to challenge the State's allegations of habitual offender." Id. at 11. In so far as McKendrick is raising a new claim, it is waived and belied by the record and bare and naked — as argued *infra*. Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981) ("A point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal.")

In any event, the district court correctly denied McKendrick's claim below, as it was outside the scope of habeas review pursuant to NRS 34.810(1)(a). The district court held:

Because the State filed the Intent to Seek habitual Treatment, Petitioner wanted to withdraw his guilty plea. However, petitioner fails to show support from the record

_

² Under NRAP 28(e)(1): "every assertion in briefs regarding matters in the record shall be supported by a reference to the page and volume number, if any, of the appendix where the matter relied on is to be found." Here, McKendrick fails to cite to the record throughout his brief.

that he ever attempted or wanted to withdraw his plea. Even had he tried to withdraw his plea; petitioner specifically agreed that if he failed to appear the State would have the right to argue for habitual treatment. In any case, this claim is also outside the scope of the present Petition because it does not involve ineffective assistance of counsel at plea or that his plea was not knowingly and voluntarily entered.

ROA(A823904), at 36.

Pursuant to NRS 34.810, "[t]he court shall dismiss a petition if the court determines that [the] *conviction was upon a plea of guilty*... and the petition is not based upon an allegation that the plea was involuntarily or unknowingly entered or that the plea was entered without effective assistance of counsel." NRS 34.810(1)(a). A petitioner may only escape these procedural bars if he meets the burden of establishing good cause and prejudice. *See* NRS 34.810(3).

Here, McKendrick fails to make any argument or analysis regarding how or why the district court erred in denying his underlying Petition. McKendrick cannot, as the only properly brought claim on appeal is an ineffective assistance of counsel claim beyond the scope of NRS 34.810(1)(a); Counsel failing to file a Motion to withdraw Guilty Plea does not involve (1) McKendrick "involuntarily or unknowingly" entering into the plea, or (2) McKendrick entering into the plea without effective representation. *See* NRS 34.810(1)(a).

Even if considered on the merits, McKendrick freely, voluntarily, and knowingly entered into his guilty plea agreement on March 27, 2019, with full

knowledge that the State may argue for habitual treatment if McKendrick failed "to appear at any subsequent hearings." ROA(C338224), at 39. McKendrick agreed that:

if I fail to interview with the Department of Parole and Probation, fail to appear at any subsequent hearings in this case, or an independent magistrate, by affidavit review, confirms probable cause against me for new criminal charges including reckless driving or DUI, but excluding minor traffic violations, the State will have the unqualified right to argue for any legal sentence and term of confinement allowable for the crime(s) to which I am pleading guilty, including the use of *any prior convictions* I may have to increase my sentence *as an habitual criminal*

ROA(C338224), at 39-40.

The district court thoroughly canvased McKendrick. *See* ROA(C338224), at 96-98.

THE COURT: Did [you] read through this guilty plea agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Did you discuss it with your attorney?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: You feel confident you understand the

terms and conditions of this agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir,

. .

THE COURT: You understand that what happens to you at the time of sentencing -- the State retains the right to argue so they're going to be arguing, I have no doubt, for prison time. And what happens to you at the time of sentencing is completely and totally up to the Court, and no one can promise, or predict, what kind of sentence the Court's going to impose, except that that's the maximum sentence that the court can impose, so you're aware of that; right?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Okay. Did anybody promise you anything that's not contained in this guilty plea agreement in order

to get you to plead guilty? THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: Anybody threat or coerces you in order to

get you to plead guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: Are you pleading guilty because in truth and fact you're actually are guilty and you're freely and -

- voluntarily entering this plea; is that correct?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

ROA(C338224), at 96-98.

McKendrick acknowledged that he understood the terms and conditions of the guilty plea. <u>Id.</u> McKendrick knew the State may argue for habitual treatment if he failed "to appear at any subsequent hearings in this case," and he freely and voluntarily agreed to that term upon entering into the guilty plea agreement. *See* ROA(C338224), at 96, 39-40. On March 27, 2019, McKendrick was in custody, but specifically asked to be released pending sentencing. ROA(C338224) at 95, 99-102. McKendrick was released on bail the next day. Id. at 48-49.

McKendrick failed to appear for sentencing on June 10, 2019, and the district court ordered a no bail bench warrant. ROA(C338244), at 191. Afterward, pursuant to the guilty plea agreement, the State filed a notice of intent to seek punishment as a habitual criminal. ROA(C338224), at 68.

Neither on this appeal nor below does McKendrick allege what grounds

Counsel could have successfully challenged his habitual criminal status.

McKendrick fails to assert how Counsel could have successfully filed a motion to withdraw a guilty plea, given that McKendrick had 'buyer's remorse' after failing to appear. McKendrick was aware of the consequences of failing to appear, failed to appear, and was subject to no more than he agreed to in the guilty plea agreement. Therefore, the district court correctly denied McKendrick's claim as it was beyond the scope of NRS 34.810(1)(a) and was belied by the record.

II. MCKENDRICK'S <u>CRONIC</u> CLAIM IS INAPPROPRIATELY RAISED

McKendrick raises a new claim that Counsel failed to subject the State's "case to meaningful adversarial testing" by failing to argue against McKendrick's habitual criminal treatment. Opening Brief, at 10-11. McKendrick's claim is improperly raised before this Court and is belied by the record. Therefore, this Court should decline to hear it.

This Court will generally decline to hear new matters on appeal that have not been raised in the underlying pleadings. *See* McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 415-416, 990 P.2d 1263, 1275-76 (1999). However, if appellant shows "cause and prejudice for" failing to "raise it below," this Court may hear the appellant's newly raised claims. *See* Hill v. State, 114 Nev. 169, 178, 953 P.2d 1077, 1084 (1998).

Here, McKendrick failed to raise below that Counsel failed to subject McKendrick's case to a meaningful adversarial process. Additionally, McKendrick fails to show good cause concerning his failure to raise the said claim in his

underlying Petition. McKendrick cannot as the facts were available to him at the time of filing his Petition, no external impediment caused McKendrick to fail to raise the instant claim, and the instant claim would have been denied as it is beyond the scope of NRS 34.810(1)(a).

Moreover, McKendrick fails to address prejudice. McKendrick appears to shift his burden onto the State to prove that McKendrick was not prejudiced. *See* Opening Brief, at 9. This is contrary to <u>Hill</u>, 114 Nev. at 178, 953 P.2d at 1084, wherein the appellant has the burden to show he is prejudiced for failing to raise the claim below.

McKendrick cannot show prejudice as the record belies his claim. Counsel argued in opposition to habitual treatment. *See* ROA(C338224), at 194.

MS. SIMMONS: I'm prepared, Your Honor, I did want to clarify one thing though. The State had submitted police reports for two incidents that are not part of the negotiation here. They're not at all related to this event. And I had objected to, Your Honor, considering those as part of the sentencing for today.

THE COURT: Right.

MS. SIMMONS: So I did want to make sure the record was clear I was objecting, because those are incidents that are not – *one was dismissed and one is screening*. Neither of them are actually factually part of this case. So *I was objecting for relevance and prejudicial purposes*. Deferring to Your Honor as to whether or not -- and the only thing I need to make clear is, whether or not, Your Honor, did -- use them, and are going to consider them today.

THE COURT: Mr. Albright?

MR. ALBRIGHT: . . . Another reason is because I'm seeking habitual --

THE COURT: Right.

MR. ALBRIGHT: -- treatment, which incubuses his criminal history, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Understood.

MR. ALBRIGHT: And takes into account judgments of conviction from prior convictions.

MS. SIMMONS: And my only response to that, specially, is that, obviously, I already know in a PSI Your Honor's always made aware -- well, specifically, factually in this case he was on house arrest at the time. *Obviously there was a prior case; however, that case was dismissed*. Obviously Your Honor would know if he had picked up a new case, otherwise the State wouldn't have regained the right -- the full right to argue.

THE COURT: Yeah.

MS. SIMMONS: However, the factual circumstances of those cases and those allegations, especially when one of those cases was voluntarily dismissed by the State, and the State has yet to file in the other case, I think that is going beyond what should be considered in sentencing Mr. McKendrick here today. As far as the JOC goes, those are things that we can't really argue against.

THE COURT: Sure.

MS. SIMMONS: Those already happened. But the police reports for the other two cases, I do believe are being inappropriately used here.

ROA(C338224), at 108-110

Counsel continued to object to habitual treatment after the State made their argument for habitual treatment.

MS. SIMMONS: As far as the other cases go, I mean, Your Honor, already knows my position. Those are cases were either voluntarily dismissed by the State, or have not yet been filed. So while I do understand that there's still an issue, there's clearly even based on the allegations

concerns for the State and Your Honor, based on the simple allegations placed in those new cases -- or, well one older case and then the quote-unquote new case. But what's also clear from the yet -- unyet -- or the yet to be filed case.

THE COURT: Sure.

. . .

MS. SIMMONS:... I do believe habitual treatment is inappropriate in this case. Mr. McKendrick has never been treated as a habitual criminal before. So jumping from zero to large does seem a little bit inappropriate, even when you consider the way that things move. Obviously the way that the law is currently written allows for anything two or more, or three or more. But it's very clear from the intent of a legislature based on the recent changes, which aren't in affect now, but do clearly indicate the way that the State is wanting to treat what is considered a habitual -- criminal. And at this stage, Mr. McKendrick, if that law were in place, he would not qualify based on the history that he has. Because of that, I do believe that habitual criminal is inappropriate, and the fact that he has three prior felonies, obviously, very serious prior felonies, but that does not mandate a large habitual criminal sentences in this case.

ROA(C338244), at 123-124.

As indicated above, Counsel did argue against habitual treatment. McKendrick's claim that Counsel failed to subject the "case to meaningful adversarial testing" is belied by the record. Opening Brief, at 10-11; ROA(C338244), at 108-110, 123-124.

McKendrick fails to assert what grounds Counsel could have successfully challenged his habitual criminal status. McKendrick does not claim the district court incorrectly applied NRS 207.010, nor does McKendrick claims his prior convictions

were used improperly or that they were incorrect. As such, McKendrick's newly raised claim is bare and naked. Because McKendrick newly raised claim is belied by the record and bare and naked, McKendrick suffered no prejudice. Therefore, this Court should decline to hear McKendrick's new claim..

CONCLUSION

Therefore, for the above reasons, this Court should AFFIRM the district court's denial of McKendrick's Petition of Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction).